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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
Charlottesville Division

ELIZABETH SINES, SETH WISPELWEY,
MARISSA BLAIR, TYLER MAGILL, APRIL
MUNIZ, HANNAH PEARCE, MARCUS
MARTIN, JOHN DOE, JANE DOE 1, JANE
DOE 2, and JANE DOE 3,

Plaintiffs,
V.

JASON KESSLER, RICHARD SPENCER,
CHRISTOPHER CANTWELL, JAMES
ALEX FIELDS, JR., VANGUARD
AMERICA, ANDREW ANGLIN, Civil Action No. 3:17CVv00072
MOONBASE HOLDINGS, LLC, ROBERT
“AZZMADOR” RAY, NATHAN DAMIGO,
ELLIOT KLINE a/k/a/ ELI MOSELY,
IDENTITY EVROPA, MATTHEW JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
HEIMBACH, MATTHEW PARROTT a/k/a
DAVID MATTHEW PARROTT,
TRADITIONALIST WORKER PARTY,
MICHAEL HILL, MICHAEL TUBBS,
LEAGUE OF THE SOUTH, JEFF SCHOEP,
NATIONAL SOCIALIST MOVEMENT,
NATIONALIST FRONT, AUGUSTUS SOL
INVICTUS, FRATERNAL ORDER OF THE
ALT-KNIGHTS, MICHAEL “ENOCH”
PEINOVICH, LOYAL WHITE KNIGHTS OF
THE KU KLUX KLAN, and EAST COAST
KNIGHTS OF THE KU KLUX KLAN a/k/a
EAST COAST KNIGHTS OF THE TRUE
INVISIBLE EMPIRE,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs, by their undersigned attorneys, allege upon knowledge as to themselves and

their own actions and upon information and belief as to all other matters, as follows:
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NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. Over the weekend of August 11 and 12, 2017, hundreds of neo-Nazis and white
supremacists traveled from near and far to descend upon the college town of Charlottesville,
Virginia, in order to terrorize its residents, commit acts of violence, and use the town as a
backdrop to showcase for the media and the nation a neo-nationalist agenda.

2. Plaintiffs in this action are University of Virginia undergraduates, law students
and staff, persons of faith, ministers, parents, doctors, and businesspersons—white, brown, and
black; Christian and Jewish; young and old. While Plaintiffs come from different backgrounds,
they share a deep love of this country, their city, and our values. They also share a fierce
determination to defend those values. Each Plaintiff in this action was injured as a result of the
events in Charlottesville on August 11 and 12. One Plaintiff suffered a stroke. Two plaintiffs
were struck in a car attack. Others suffered and continue to suffer deep and debilitating
psychological and emotional distress that prevents them from resuming their former lives or
from enjoying the basic sense of peace, safety, and tranquility that most in this country can take
for granted.

3. Defendants are the individuals and organizations that conspired to plan, promote,
and carry out the violent events in Charlottesville. They are neo-Nazis, Klansmen, white
supremacists, and white nationalists. They embrace and espouse racist, anti-Semitic, sexist,
homophobic, and xenophobic ideologies. Defendants brought with them to Charlottesville the
imagery of the Holocaust, of slavery, of Jim Crow, and of fascism. They also brought with them
semi-automatic weapons, pistols, mace, rods, armor, shields, and torches. They chanted “Jews

will not replace us,” “blood and soil,” and “this is our town now.” Starting at least as early as the

beginning of 2017 and continuing through today, they have joined together for the purpose of
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inciting violence and instilling fear within the community of Charlottesville and beyond,
wherever their messages are received.

4. There is one thing about this case that should be made crystal-clear at the outset—
the violence in Charlottesville was no accident. Under the pretext of a “rally,” which they
termed “Unite the Right,” Defendants spent months carefully coordinating their efforts, on the
internet and in person. They exhorted each other: “If you want to defend the South and Western
civilization from the Jew and his dark-skinned allies, be at Charlottesville on 12 August,” and,
“Next stop: Charlottesville, VA. Final stop: Auschwitz.” In countless posts on their own
websites and on social media, Defendants and their co-conspirators promised that there would be
violence in Charlottesville, and violence there was. As Defendant Eli Mosley, one of the lead
organizers for the rally, declared: “We are [] going to Charlottesville. Our birthright will be
ashes & they’ll have to pry it from our cold hands if they want it. They will not replace us
without a fight.”

5. The violence, suffering, and emotional distress that occurred in Charlottesville
was a direct, intended, and foreseeable result of Defendants’ unlawful conspiracy. It was all
according to plan—a plan they spent months working out and whose implementation they
actively oversaw as events unfolded on the ground.

6. The events of August 11 and 12—now commonly referred to simply as
“Charlottesville”—were part of Defendants’ coordinated campaign to intimidate, harass, incite,
and cause violence to people based on their race, religion, ethnicity, and sexual orientation in
violation not only of the values that thousands of American soldiers have died for, but also

numerous state and federal laws. As the Utah Senator Orrin Hatch said: “We should call evil by
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its name. My brother didn’t give his life fighting Hitler for Nazi ideas to go unchallenged here at
home.”

7. By this lawsuit, Plaintiffs seek to challenge Defendants’ actions under the laws of
the United States of America and the Commonwealth of Virginia. Plaintiffs seek compensatory
and injunctive relief. The aim of this lawsuit is to ensure that nothing like this will happen again
at the hands of Defendants—not on the streets of Charlottesville, Virginia, and not anywhere else
in the United States of America.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. The court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

9. Venue is properly in the Western District of Virginia pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
8§ 1391(b) because Plaintiffs’ claims arose in Charlottesville, Virginia, which is located in the
Western District of Virginia.

THE PARTIES

A. Plaintiffs

10. Plaintiff Tyler Magill is a resident of the Commonwealth of Virginia and an
employee at the library of the University of Virginia (“UVA”). He lives in Charlottesville with
his wife and child. On August 11 and 12, Magill participated in non-violent protests of
Defendants’ planned events. Following the events of the weekend, Magill collapsed at his place
of work and suffered a trauma-induced stroke. Magill spent two days in the hospital and may
never fully recover from the resulting brain injuries. Magill has not been able to return to his job
at the UVA library.

11. Plaintiff Reverend Seth Wispelwey was born and raised in Charlottesville and
attended the University of Virginia. He moved back to Charlottesville four years ago with his
wife and daughter. Wispelwey has worked at numerous non-profit organizations that advocate

4
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for human rights, including as the head of an organization protecting victims of human
trafficking. Wispelwey is an ordained Minister with the United Church of Christ and the
Directing Minister of Restoration Village Arts. He is also the co-founder of a membership
organization for clergy of different faiths from across the country, called Congregate, which
organized numerous trainings in non-violent protest for residents of Charlottesville leading up to
the events of August 11 and 12. As a result of Defendants’ intentional and coordinated plans to
commit violence against those who stood up for minority residents in Charlottesville, Wispelwey
was harassed, intimidated, and assaulted by Defendants and their co-conspirators. Since the
events of the weekend, Wispelwey has suffered extreme emotional distress that has manifested in
physical symptoms including constricted chest pain, difficulty sleeping (including nightmares
concerning the events of August 11 and 12), and the inability to return full-time to work.

12.  Plaintiff April Mufiiz is a resident of the Commonwealth of Virginia. Before the
events of August 12, she was the Director of Clinical Operations at a company that helps develop
new treatments for patients suffering from incurable diseases. On August 12, Mufiiz peacefully
protested Defendants’ planned event. As a result of Defendants’ intentional and coordinated
plans to commit violence against minority residents, Mufiiz was intimidated and harassed on
multiple occasions throughout the weekend. Among other things, Mufiz was close to being hit
by the car that Defendant James Alex Fields, Jr. intentionally drove into a crowd of protestors in
an act of domestic terrorism. Mufiiz has suffered severe emotional injury, has been diagnosed
with acute stress disorder and trauma, and has not been able to return to work. She has suffered
economic loss as a result of her injuries.

13. Plaintiff John Doe is an African-American resident of the Commonwealth of

Virginia and a student at University of Virginia. On August 11, John Doe peacefully protested
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Defendants’ planned event. On the basis of his race, John Doe was intimidated, harassed,
assaulted, and sprayed with caustic substances.

14. Plaintiff Hannah Pearce is a dermatologist who lives in Charlottesville with her
husband and four children. Pearce and her family are active members of Congregation Beth
Israel. On August 12, Pearce and her son peacefully protested Defendants’ planned event. On
the basis of her religion, Pearce was threatened, harassed, intimidated, and physically assaulted.
Subsequently, a few days after the Unite the Right “rally,” Defendants Andrew Anglin and
Moonbase Holdings, LLC’s website, Daily Stormer, intending to intimidate Pearce and her son,
posted their picture online.

15. Plaintiff Elizabeth Sines, a resident of the Commonwealth of Virginia, is a
second-year law student at the University of Virginia Law School, and a graduate of Cornell
University. On August 11 and 12, Sines peacefully protested Defendants’ planned events. As a
result of witnessing the events of the weekend, including the domestic terrorist attack on August
12 where Defendant Fields drove a car into a crowd, Sines has suffered from severe emotional
distress and shock.

16. Plaintiff Marissa Blair is a multi-racial resident of the Commonwealth of Virginia.
She works as a paralegal. On August 12, Blair was peacefully protesting when Defendant Fields
drove his car into a crowd of protestors, killing Blair’s co-worker and friend, Heather Heyer.
Fields’ car narrowly missed Blair only because her fiancé, Plaintiff Marcus Martin, pushed her
out of the way before being hit himself. Blair suffered physical injuries and continues to suffer
from severe emotional distress as a result of Defendants’ actions.

17. Plaintiff Marcus Martin is an African-American resident of the Commonwealth of

Virginia. He works as a landscaper. On August 12, Martin was peacefully protesting the Unite
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the Right "rally.” He was struck by Defendant Fields, who drove his car into a crowd of
protestors in an act of domestic terrorism. Martin pushed his fiancée out of the way of the
speeding car, but he was severely injured by the attack, including sustaining a broken leg and
ankle that required surgery. He continues to suffer severe emotional distress as a result of
Defendants’ actions.

18. Plaintiff Jane Doe 1 grew up in Charlottesville, VA and is an undergraduate at
UVA. On August 11, Jane Doe 1 was within a group of community members and students who
were surrounded by torch-bearing neo-Nazis and white supremacists at the Rotunda. On August
12, Jane Doe 1 peacefully protested Defendants’ planned event with her mother and sister. Jane
Doe 1 and her sister were on Fourth street when Defendant Fields intentionally drove a car into
the crowd of protestors in an act of domestic terrorism. Jane Doe 1 was struck by the vehicle
driven by Fields and sustained many injuries. The car broke both of her legs, including a tibial
plateau fracture in her knee which required major surgery to repair bone, multiple ligaments, and
cartilage. Jane Doe 1 spent several days in the hospital following this surgery. She suffered
severe contusions all over her body, a concussion, and a head injury requiring stitches. Jane Doe
1’s recovery will take over a year and requires extensive physical therapy. Jane Doe 1 also
suffered severe emotional distress as a result of the planned event and terrorist attack on August
12.

19. Plaintiff Jane Doe 2 has been a resident of the Commonwealth of Virginia for
seventeen years. Jane Doe 2 and her family are members of the Congregation Beth Israel in
Charlottesville, the oldest synagogue in Virginia. On August 12, Jane Doe 2 peacefully
protested Defendants’ planned event. Jane Doe 2’s daughter also peacefully protested on August

12 and was struck by Defendant Fields, who intentionally drove a car into a crowd of protestors
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in an act of domestic terrorism. As a result of being struck by the car, Jane Doe 2’s daughter’s
legs were broken and she suffered severe head injuries. Jane Doe 2 has suffered (and continues
to suffer) extreme emotional distress and broke her wrist assisting her daughter in her debilitated
state.

20. Plaintiff Jane Doe 3 is a Jewish resident of the Commonwealth of Virginia. Jane
Doe 3 grew up in Charlottesville, VA and attended William and Mary College. After working
with refugees and migrants in Malaysia, Jane Doe 3 returned home to Charlottesville at the end
of July 2017. On August 12, Jane Doe 3 peacefully protested Defendants’ planned event with
her mother and sister. Jane Doe 3 and her sister were on Fourth street when Defendant Fields
intentionally drove a car into the crowd of protestors in an act of domestic terrorism. Her sister
was struck by the vehicle, which broke both of her legs and caused severe head injuries. Jane
Doe 3 remained by her sister’s side and helped provide first aid for 25 minutes while they waited
for an ambulance to take them to the emergency room. Jane Doe 3 suffered severe emotional
distress as a result of the planned event and terrorist attack on August 12.

B. Defendants

21. Defendant Jason Kessler is a white nationalist and a member of Proud Boys. A
resident of Charlottesville, Virginia, Kessler uses the handle “MadDimension” on Discord and
@The_MadDimension on Twitter, and, together with Defendant Mosley, led the organizing
efforts for the Unite the Right “rally” in Charlottesville. Kessler is also the president and
founder of Unity and Security for America, a grassroots organization that claims it is dedicated
to “defending Western civilization” and is a contributor to websites like VVDare.com, a
xenophobic, nativist publication, and the Daily Caller, a conservative news outlet. Kessler was
the lead organizer for the Unite the Right “rally” and was one of the names featured on a

promotional poster for the “rally.” In January 2017, Kessler attacked a man in downtown
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Charlottesville while collecting signatures for his petition to remove the African-American vice
mayor, Wes Bellamy, from the Charlottesville City Council. In April, Kessler pleaded guilty to
a misdemeanor charge and was then charged with felony perjury for lying to the police in
connection with the assault.

22.  Defendant Richard Spencer, a resident of the Commonwealth of Virginia who
attended the University of Virginia, is the head of the white nationalist “think tank,” National
Policy Institute. In 2010, Spencer created an online publication called altright.com. Spencer
organizes his followers to act in furtherance of his ideology, calling for an “ethnic cleansing.”
Spencer planned and led the violent torchlight rally at his alma mater on Friday evening. Spencer
actively promoted the Unite the Right "rally" on Saturday to his numerous followers on social
media and encouraged and incited intimidation and violence based racial, religious, and ethnic
animosity.

23.  Defendant Christopher Cantwell is a resident of New Hampshire and is a white
nationalist and a self-proclaimed fascist. He hosts “Radical Agenda,” a podcast and YouTube
show streamed live multiple times a week, and runs the website christophercantwell.com.
Cantwell has stated that he “realized that [Jewish people] were responsible for the communism,”
and decided, “let’s fucking gas the kikes and have a race war.” He has written: “I think chemical
and biological weapons can do a great deal of good for mankind. Releasing nerve gas or some
kind of lethal virus into a left wing protest could prepare the bodies for physical removal without
making a big scene for the cameras or destroying anything of value.” In connection with the
Unite the Right “rally” in Charlottesville on August 11 and 12, Cantwell has been charged with
two felony counts of illegal use of tear gas and one felony count of malicious body injury by

means of a caustic substance.
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24, Defendant Alex Fields, Jr., a resident of Ohio, is a member of Defendant
Vanguard America. Motivated by racial, religious, and ethnic animosity, on August 12, Fields
committed an act of domestic terrorism, by driving a Dodge Challenger into a crowd of
protesters, injuring dozens and killing a 32-year old woman, Heather Heyer. He has been
charged by the Charlottesville police with one count of second degree murder, three counts of
malicious wounding, and one count of hit and run (leaving the scene of an accident).

25. Defendant VVanguard America is an unincorporated association pursuant to
Virginia Code § 8.01-15. Members of Vanguard America voluntarily join for the common
purpose of promoting white nationalism and believe that people with “white blood” have a
special bond with “American soil.” It was formed in California in 2015 and is comprised of
twelve chapters across the country. The group’s website states that to join the group, a person
must be “of at least 80% white/European heritage.” Defendant Fields is a member of Defendant
Vanguard America; he wore their uniform and carried a Vanguard America shield at the Unite
the Right event on August 12.

26. Defendant Andrew Anglin is a resident of Ohio, a neo-Nazi, and the founder of
Daily Stormer—an organization that operates through a website that Anglin publishes. Daily
Stormer has called its website the “world’s most genocidal” website. Daily Stormer was named
after Der Stirmer, a Nazi propaganda tabloid known for virulently anti-Semitic caricatures and
published by Julius Streicher, who was later convicted of crimes against humanity at Nuremberg.
Until recently, Daily Stormer had a website at www.dailystormer.com. Anglin and his associates
at Daily Stormer, including Defendant Robert "Azzmador" Ray, use Daily Stormer’s website “as
a hardcore front for the conversion of masses into a pro-white, Anti-semitic ideology,” to “sell []

global white supremacy,” and to “make a racist army.” The website, which became the most

10
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visited hate site on the Internet in 2016, includes sections titled “Jewish Problem” and “Race
War.” The Chief Technical Officer of Daily Stormer has posited that Daily Stormer “has been
effective at what [it is] doing” by “the manifestation of our people on the ground in the real
world.” Followers of Anglin and Daily Stormer, who call themselves “Stormers,” communicate
on the website’s forum, which is moderated by Anglin and accessible only with a special “dark
web” tor browser. On Anglin’s orders and under his continuing supervision, Stormers have
formed local chapters, called “Stormer Book Clubs,” as part of Anglin’s plan to “build an
invisible empire.” Anglin uses the Daily Stormer forum to actively monitor the Book Clubs and
uses the website to issue orders on how to organize. *“Official Operations” of Stormer Book
Clubs include firearms training, organizing for protests, and being ready to respond to
“challenges” issued by Anglin. Daily Stormer established “meet ups” and chat rooms that co-
conspirators and attendees used throughout the August 11 and 12 weekend to coordinate their
violence. The Daily Stormer released its own poster promoting the “rally” that read, “UNITE
THE RIGHT/ Join Azzmador and the Daily Stormer to end Jewish influence in America,”
accompanied by a Nazi-like figure wielding a hammer, ready to smash a Jewish star. For months
before the Unite the Right events on August 11 and 12, Anglin organized his followers to attend
and prepared them to commit racially motivated violent acts in Charlottesville. Although Anglin
did not attend the rally himself because he is currently in hiding in order to evade service in
connection with a separate lawsuit relating to events in Whitefish, Montana, Anglin orchestrated
the movements of Daily Stormer followers and incited them to violence on a live feed

contemporaneously with the events as they occurred on August 11 and 12 in Charlottesville.

217, Defendant Moonbase Holdings, LLC is an Ohio, for-profit, limited-liability

corporation registered by Defendant Anglin that operates the Daily Stormer’s website.
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Defendant Anglin has encouraged readers to financially support the Daily Stormer by sending
donations using bitcoin, checks, and credit cards, noting that “it won’t say ‘Daily Stormer’ on
your credit card bill, but will instead say ‘Moonbase Holdings,” which either sounds like a hobby
shop or a multi-level marketing scheme run by reptoids. Anyway, it looks innocuous on your
statement.”

28. Defendant Robert "Azzmador" Ray, a resident of Texas, is a neo-Nazi and a
writer for Daily Stormer’s website. He has held himself out as a representative of Daily Stormer,
and served as an agent of Daily Stormer in organizing the Unite the Right events. He is the
leader of the “Dallas Fort Worth Stormer Book Club,” which is one of many local Daily Stormer
groups across the country. In his articles published on Daily Stormer’s website, Ray encouraged
extremists to attend the events in Charlottesville on August 11 and 12 and incited them to
violence. Ray attended the “rally” himself and had a planning meeting with certain other
Defendants in Charlottesville on August 11.

29. Defendant Nathan Damigo, a resident of California, is a white nationalist and the
founder of a white supremacist organization, Defendant Identity Evropa. Defendant Spencer has
stated that Damigo and his group, Identity Evropa, took the lead in organizing white supremacist
participation among people from outside Charlottesville in connection with the events on August
11 and 12.

30. Defendant Eli Mosley, who is a resident of Pennsylvania, is a white supremacist
and the current leader of Identity Evropa. He has described himself as “command soldier major
of the “alt-right’” and as the organizer of the Unite the Right “rally.” On certain social media
networks, Mosley has used the handles @NotEliMosley and @ThatEliMosley. Mosley was one

of the key figures who planned and led the events of August 11 and 12.
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31. Defendant Identity Evropa is an unincorporated association pursuant to Virginia
Code § 8.01-15. Members of Identity Evropa voluntarily joined for the common purpose of
promoting a “white American identity.” It was founded in March 2016 by Defendant Damigo
and its current president is Defendant Mosley. The group adopted and popularized the white
supremacist slogan, “You will not replace us” that Defendants and co-conspirators chanted as
they marched on August 11 and 12.

32. Defendant Matthew Heimbach, a resident of Indiana, is the chairman of
Defendant Traditionalist Worker Party ("TWP"). In 2013, Heimbach and Defendant Matthew
Parrott founded the neo-Nazi Traditionalist Youth Network, a white nationalist group that
promotes a racist interpretation of Christianity. Alongside Defendant National Socialist
Movement (“NSM”) leader Jeff Schoep, Heimbach co-chairs the Nationalist Front, an umbrella
organization of approximately twenty white supremacist organizations, including racist skinhead
crews, Klan groups, and neo-Nazi groups. He has said, “Of course we look up to men like Adolf
Hitler . . . as inspirations for what we can achieve.” Heimbach organized and led marchers from
TWP on August 12.

33. Defendant Matthew Parrott, a resident of Indiana, is the co-founder of the
Traditionalist Youth Network along with his stepson-in-law, Defendant Heimbach. He is
currently the Chief Information Officer and Director of Defendant TWP. On August 12, Parrott
refused to leave Emancipation Park after a state of emergency was declared and was arrested by
the police for failing to disperse. Parrott wrote an account of his experiences at the Unite the
Right “rally,” in “Catcher in the Reich: My Account of my Experiences in Charlottesville.” In it,
he wrote that Defendants TWP, League of the South, NSM, and other Nationalist Front groups

joined together to “help create two shield walls” for “the fight.”
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34, Defendant Traditionalist Worker Party (“TWP”) is an unincorporated association
pursuant to Virginia Code § 8.01-15, and a national political party committee registered with the
Federal Election Commission since 2015. Members of TWP voluntarily joined for the common
purpose of promoting anti-Semitism. According to Defendant Heimbach, the TWP has three
dozen active chapters and an estimated 500 members across the country. The TWP was created
by Defendants Heimbach and Parrott. The TWP has said: “Trust nobody who fails to name the
Jew, who fails to explicitly and consistently oppose the Jew, and who preaches cleverness or
nuance on the JQ [Jewish Question].” Members of the TWP prompted, attended, and fully
participated in the events in Charlottesville on August 11 and 12, including by engaging in
violence.

35. Defendant Michael Hill, a resident of Alabama, is the co-founder and President of
the League of the South, a white nationalist organization. In 2014, Hill and the League of the
South announced the formation of an armed, paramilitary unit dubbed “the Indomitables,” tasked
with advancing southern secession by any means necessary. In May 2015, Hill published an
article in which he asserted: “We Southern nationalists do not want a race war (or any sort of
war). But if one is forced on us, we’ll participate. . . . Southern whites are geared up and armed
to the teeth. . . . So if negroes think a “race war” in modern America would be to their
advantage, they had better prepare themselves for a very rude awakening.” Hill, whose name
was featured on a promotional poster for the “rally,” encouraged League of the South followers
to attend by urging them not to “miss out on the fun” in dealing with counter-protestors—their
purported enemies. On August 12, League of the South, led by Hill, marched through
Charlottesville after Vanguard America. Like Vanguard America, they marched with

coordinated shields and flags and carried rods and other weapons.
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36. Defendant Michael Tubbs, a resident of Florida, is the “Chief of Staff” of
Defendant League of the South. Tubbs is captured on a video from August 12 ordering League
of the South to attack by yelling “charge!” After receiving this command, the group streamed
past him to attack counter-protestors. Defendant Hill later boasted that “Mr. Tubbs was
everywhere the chaos was.” Tubbs previously served a four-year prison sentence for planning to
bomb Jewish- and black-owned businesses in Florida.

37. Defendant League of the South, a privately held company located in Alabama, is
a white supremacist group that advocates Southern secession. Prior to the events on August 11
and 12, Defendant Hill posted in the League’s Facebook group that he wanted “no fewer than
150 League warriors, dressed and ready for action, in Charlottesville, Virginia, on 12 August.”
Numerous members of the League of the South participated in Saturday’s violent events together
with co-defendants.

38. Defendant Jeff Schoep, a resident of Michigan, is the leader of Defendant NSM,
the largest neo-Nazi coalition in the United States. On April 22, 2016, SchoepTWP, the Aryan
Terror Brigade, and many regional factions of the Ku Klux Klan. Schoep has said that if he
could meet Adolf Hitler today, he would say, “Thank you for your sacrifice, and | hope we have
honored you in some small way by carrying on the fight.” Schoep participated actively in the
events of August 11 and 12 and tweeted afterwards that, “It was an Honor to stand with U all in
C’Ville this weekend. NSM, NF, TWP, LOS, VA, ECK, CHS, and the rest, true warriors!”!

39. Defendant National Socialist Movement (“NSM”) is an unincorporated
association pursuant to Virginia Code § 8.01-15. Members of NSM voluntarily joined for the

common purpose of promoting a “greater America” that would deny citizenship to Jews, non-

! This tweet refers to Defendants Nationalist Front, TWP, League of the South, Vanguard America, and East Coast
Knights.
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whites, and LGBT persons. Located in Michigan, NSM is paramilitary in structure; its members
claim to be lieutenants, sergeants, or other military ranks. Defendant Schoep, the head of NSM,
has served as its “Commander” since 1994. Chapters of the groups are termed “units.” NSM
maintains a business through NSM88 Records LLC selling neo-Nazi flags, swastikas, gear, etc.
Members of NSM participated in the violence that took place in Charlottesville on August 11
and 12.

40. Defendant Nationalist Front is an unincorporated association pursuant to Virginia
Code § 8.01-15, whose members voluntarily joined for the common purpose of promoting white
nationalism and white supremacy. Formerly known as the Aryan National Alliance, Nationalist
Front is an umbrella organization consisting of white supremacist and white nationalist groups,
including neo-Nazi and Klan groups. The Nationalist Front is led by Defendants Schoep,
Heimbach, Hopper, and Hill. The Nationalist Front was conceived to be “the thread that would
unite white supremacist and white nationalist circles.” Various members of the Nationalist Front
engaged in acts of violence and intimidated residents of Charlottesville on August 11 and 12.

41. Defendant Augustus Sol Invictus, formerly Austin Mitchell Gillespie, a resident
of Florida, is a white nationalist, white supremacist and a member of Defendant Fraternal Order
of Alt-Knights ("FOAK™"), the “military wing” of The Proud Boys, a group described as a “*pro-
Western fraternal organization’ for men who ‘refuse to apologize for creating the modern
world.”” He has said that a violent, second Civil War is necessary in order to preserve “Western
civilization.” On August 14, 2017, Invictus announced his candidacy as a Republican for the
2018 Senate election in Florida. Invictus, whose name was featured on a promotional poster for
the “rally,” drafted the “Charlottesville statement” along with Spencer and others, then

participated in the torchlit rally on August 11 with co-Defendants.
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42. Defendant Fraternal Order of the Alt-Knights (“FOAK?”) is an unincorporated
association pursuant to Virginia Code § 8.01-15 and is self-described as the “tactical defensive
arm” of Proud Boys, formed to focus on “street activism, preparation, defense, and
confrontation.” Defendant Invictus is second in command at FOAK and FOAK attended the
“rally” in part to provide security to him.

43. Defendant Michael “Enoch” Peinovich, a resident of New York, is the founder of
the blog and website The Right Stuff and a co-host of the Daily Shoah podcast. On social media,
Peinovich has at various times used the handles @NotMikeEnoch and @mikeenochsback.
Peinovich frequently appears at events alongside Defendant Spencer. Peinovich was featured on
a promotional poster for the “rally.” On August 12, in the immediate aftermath of the car attack,
Defendants Spencer and Peinovich spoke to their followers at Mclntire Park.

44, Defendant Loyal White Knights of the Ku Klux Klan (“Loyal White Knights™) is
an unincorporated association pursuant to Virginia Code § 8.01-15. Members of Loyal White
Knights voluntarily joined for the common purpose of promoting white nationalism and white
supremacy. Based in Pelham, North Carolina, the association only accepts “native-born white
American Citizen[s]” as members. Following the events in Charlottesville on August 11 and 12,
the Loyal White Knights changed their outgoing voicemail message to say: “Nothing makes us
more proud at the KKK than when we see white patriots such as James Fields, Jr., age 20, taking
his car and running over nine communist anti-fascist, killing one nigger-lover named Heather
Heyer. James Fields hail victory. 1t’s men like you that have made the great white race strong
and will be strong again.”

45. Defendant East Coast Knights of the Ku Klux Klan a/k/a East Coast Knights of

the True Invisible Empire (“East Coast Knights™) is an unincorporated association pursuant to
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Virginia Code § 8.01-15. Members of East Coast Knights voluntarily joined for the common
purpose of promoting white nationalism and white supremacy. It is active in several states, and
has a subdivision or “klavern” in the state of Maryland. Tom Larson is the imperial wizard of
the East Coast Knights of the True Invisible Empire. The East Coast Knights, using the handles
@tightrope33_6 and @Tightrope336, frequently tweet racist images and comments; on
September 19, 2017, it tweeted pictures of burning crosses, labeled an image of lynched black
men as “Alabama wind chimes,” and tweeted a cartoon of a Klansman using two black men
hung from trees as a hammock in which to read the newspaper and drink an iced tea. The East
Coast Knights was a key participant in the July 8 Klan rally, and conspired with the Nationalist
Front and other Defendants to organize and participate in the violent events of August 12.

FACTS

46. Defendants are white supremacist, white nationalist, and neo-Nazi organizations
and individuals, who have as part of their mission to engage in racial, religious, and ethnically
motivated violence, threats, intimidation and harassment. The events in Charlottesville are part
of Defendants’ recent concerted efforts to move from the shadows of anonymous, disassociated,
online chatrooms and into a more open, organized, physical presence in our parks and on our

streets. Defendants are co-conspirators with each other and others unnamed.
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I. Defendants And Unnamed Co-Conspirators Conspired To Commit Acts Of Violence,
Intimidation, And Harassment Against The Citizens Of Charlottesville, Virginia

A. Defendants Targeted Charlottesville in the Months Prior August 11 and 12 (“the
Summer of Hate™)

When the Jews took over our society and turned it into a kiked-out
living hell, they marked their achievement by declaring a

“Summer of Love.” . . . They took everything away from us. That
age is ending now. We are taking back our birthright. This
summer, a Black Sun will pass over America. . . . | am declaring

the summer of 2017 the Summer of Hate.
Defendant Andrew Anglin

47. In furtherance of their above-stated goal, Defendants plotted to target
Charlottesville, Virginia as part of what they called the “Summer of Hate.”

48. Defendants selected Charlottesville because, among other things, the City was
engulfed at the time in a debate over the statue of General Robert E. Lee in a small city park. In
February 2017, the Charlottesville City Council voted to remove the Lee statue and, in June
2017, it voted to rename the park in which it stood from Lee Park to Emancipation Park.

49. Defendants used the removal of the Lee statue as a rallying cry for their followers,
seeking to preserve its place in the park, and use the debate about the statue as a means to stir up
violence and harass, threaten, and intimidate the residents of Charlottesville.

50. For example, Defendants Kessler and Richard Spencer invited white supremacist
groups to visit and hold events around the statue with the intent of intimidating nonwhite and
Jewish individuals and their allies.

51.  On May 13, 2017, hundreds of neo-Nazis and white supremacists carried lit
torches and surrounded the statue of Robert E. Lee, in an event organized and planned by, among
others, Defendants Kessler, Spencer, Damigo, Peinovich, Heimbach, Identity Evropa, Vanguard

America, TWP, and League of the South. Defendants and participants carried altright.com-
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branded signs? reading “we will not be replaced.” They chanted “you will not replace us” and
“blood and soil.” “Blood and soil” is a translation of “Blut und Boden,” a German nationalist
philosophy that lay at the heart of Nazi policies. The slogan expresses the idealization of a
racially defined national body (“blood”) unified with a settlement area (*“soil”). It was
inextricably linked with the contemporary German idea of Lebensraum—the belief that the
German people need to reclaim historically German areas of Eastern Europe into which they
could expand—which was the driving ideology behind Hitler’s invasion of neighboring countries
and the mass murder of their citizens.

52.  The May 13 event was planned and intended to intimidate, threaten, and harass
Charlottesville residents on the basis of race, religion, and ethnicity. Defendant Kessler said he
hoped that the May event would be a “fantastic first event” in a “cultural “civil war.””
Defendants’ avowed goal was to promote and create an atmosphere of religious and racial
subordination on the streets of Charlottesville, ideally through the infliction of violence or
emotional distress.

53.  Ata lunch before the event, Spencer—sharing a podium with Defendants
Damigo, Peinovich, and Kessler, as well as co-conspirator Sam Dickson—explained: “What
brings us together is that we are white, we are a people. We will not be replaced.”

54. Defendants acknowledged the success of their careful, deliberate, and months-
long planning. The Daily Stormer’s website reported that “[t]he 200+ honorable whites marched
to the base of the statue as they carried torches reminiscent of the 3" Reich.” In an essay about
the May 3 event, entitled “Why We Fight,” VVanguard America explained:

“The purpose of the gathering was not simply over some
metal sculpture atop a pedestal in a small Southern City. It was

2 Altright.com is Defendant Richard Spencer’s website.
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about defending the images of white history, white heroes, and
white America. . . .

[T]he greatest spectacle of the event came as we lit our
torches for the night march. As we approached Lee Park for the
last time, our footsteps shook the whole city. . . . This movement
must begin as a spiritual movement. . .. To quote a wise /pol/lak,
“If you want to gas the Jews, you must first gas the Jew within
yourself.”
After a few words from Spencer and Dickson, we blew
out our torches, our spiritual cups filled for perhaps the first time
in all of our lives and once again shouted our deafening chants,
shaking the entire city with our might.
There will be many more of these events. This march on
Charlottesville was just the beginning of the inevitable
Revolution of our people.
Hail Victory!
55.  This May event would later be referred to by conspirators as “Charlottesville 1.0."
56.  Capitalizing on the perceived success of the May event, and motivated by the
same desire to achieve racial and religious subordination of city residents, Defendants began
planning for additional events in Charlottesville. On May 30, Kessler submitted an application
for a permit to hold the Unite the Right “rally” on the weekend of August 11 and 12.
57. In June, Kessler invited Defendants and others to come to Charlottesville for a
“Proud Boys” event, which was designed to promote violence and intimidate minority residents

in advance of the Unite the Right "rally."* As one of the Proud Boys in attendance noted, the

group wanted to bait protestors because “a lot of us kinda like to see them bleed.” Another

3 As part of the weekend, Kessler was beaten in an alley in Charlottesville by Proud Boys members until he could
name five breakfast cereals. This “cereal beat-in” is the “second degree” of initiation into the Proud Boys. The first
degree is a declaration of allegiance to the Proud Boys. The second degree is the cereal beat-in and a renouncement
of masturbation (although Proud Boys “Pope” Dante Nero has framed the rule as requiring that a man should only
ejaculate within a yard of a woman). The third degree involves getting a tattoo and the fourth degree requires a
“major fight for the cause,” meaning you “kick the crap out of antifa” and possibly get arrested.
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Proud Boy reminded others: “This of course is just the beginning. There are also bigger [ ]
events planned for . . . Charlottesville on August 12.”

58.  OnJuly 8, 2017, a third white supremacist event was held in Charlottesville, this
time by Defendant Loyal White Knights. Nearly fifty Klansmen marched through the streets
shouting “white power,” and carrying signs that read: “Jews are Satan’s children.” Some wore
white Klan robes, and many carried guns.

59. Kessler attended and live-streamed the Klan march on Twitter. He shared a tweet
with his followers: “#UniteTheRight against these shitlibs in Charlottesville on August 12th is
going to be so much fun. You’ve got a month to be there.”

B. Defendants Planned and Coordinated a Scheme to Incite Violence, Threaten,
Intimidate and Harass Charlottesville Residents on Auqust 11 and 12

The age of ultraviolence is coming. | don’t know when, but I do
know that most of you will live to see it.

There is rapidly approaching a time when in every white Western

city, corpses will be stacked in the streets as high as men can

stack them.

And you are either going to be stacking or getting stacked . . .

There will be leaders. You need to be prepared to recognize them

for who they are, and you need to be prepared to do whatever

they tell you to do, exactly as they tell youtodo it. . .

Defendant Andrew Anglin
60. Defendants and their co-conspirators conspired to incite violence and to threaten,

intimidate, and harass the civilian population of Charlottesville, in particular, individuals of a
racial, ethnic or religious minority, and to commit other unlawful acts as described herein. For
weeks, Defendants acted on the basis of racial, religious, and/or ethnic animus, and with the

intention to deny Jewish people and people of color, as well as people promoting rights for

Jewish people and people of color, equal protection and other rights that they are guaranteed
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under state and federal law. Defendants' conspiracy ultimately achieved its stated goals and did
in fact repeatedly, systematically, and unmistakably violate the rights of religious and racial
minorities in Charlottesville.

61.  The application for the Unite the Right permit submitted by Defendant Kessler
claimed that the event would be a protest of the removal of the Lee monument, but Defendants
also intended that the rally would instill fear in Charlottesville’s minority population and cause
violence. They wanted to use the events of the weekend to intimidate the broader civilian
population and recruit more followers to Defendants’ groups.

62.  Anarticle by Defendants Anglin and Ray published on the Daily Stormer’s
website on August 8 explained that the purpose of the “rally” had shifted from being “in support
of the Lee Monument, which the Jew Mayor and his Negroid Deputy have marked for
destruction” to “something much bigger than that . . . . It is now an historic rally, which will
serve as a rallying point and battle cry for the rising Alt-Right movement.”

63. Defendants Kessler, Spencer, Anglin, Ray, Cantwell, Mosley, Damigo, Invictus,
Peinovich, Heimbach, Parrott, Hill, Tubbs, Fields, and Schoep, on behalf of themselves and the
groups to which they belong, and Defendants Identity Evropa, FOAK, Vanguard America, TWP,
League of the South, NSM, Nationalist Front, Loyal White Knights, and East Coast Knights,
along with Daily Stormer (Moonbase Holdings), through their leadership and members, all
agreed and coordinated with and among each other to plan, organize, promote, and commit the
unlawful acts that injured Plaintiffs and countless others in Charlottesville. They also
coordinated with numerous unnamed and named co-conspirators.

64. Defendant Spencer and co-conspirator Evan McLaren, a member of Defendant

Identity Evropa, met in person at the Trump Hotel in Washington, D.C. to organize and direct the
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“rally” in Charlottesville, with the purpose and result of committing acts of violence,
intimidation, and harassment against the citizens of Charlottesville. Defendants Cantwell and
Kessler met in Charlottesville on August 9 to plan and direct the unlawful acts of violence,
intimidation, and denial of equal protection of law. Defendants Ray, Cantwell, and Mosley and
co-conspirator David Duke attended another in-person meeting on August 11 to plan and direct
the unlawful acts of violence, intimidation, and the denial of equal protection of law. Defendants
Nationalist Front, NSM, TWP, League of the South, Vanguard America, East Coast Knights, and
“other allies,” coordinated their attendance as a “joint operation” in advance of August 12 to
plan, direct, and prepare for unlawful acts of violence, intimidation, harassment and denial of
equal protection to Charlottesville citizens.

65. Defendants also frequently coordinated the illegal acts planned for the Unite the
Right event online. They made use of websites, social media (including Twitter, Facebook,
4chan and 8chan), chat rooms, radio, videos and podcasts to communicate with each other, and
with their co-conspirators, followers and other attendees and did so to plan the intended acts of
violence, intimidation, and the denial to citizens of the equal protection of laws.

66. For years, Defendants and others unnamed have used the Internet to, in Defendant
Anglin’s terms, “solidify a stable and self-sustaining counter-culture.” Use of the Internet is part
of the ways, manner and means of how Defendants’ conspiracy operated and operates.

67. Defendants and co-conspirators coordinated by posting articles on their own
websites, and by using social media to send and share messages for the “rally” and to encourage
attendance and the commission of illegal acts. They interviewed one another about the plans for
the “rally,” and shared those messages on podcasts or other video-streaming services. They

agreed to mobilize their respective members and followers to attend and be violent and suppress

24



Case 3:17-cv-00072-NKM-JCH Document 1 Filed 10/11/17 Page 25 of 96 Pageid#: 25

the equal rights of Charlottesville citizens. According to Spencer, for example: “Damigo and
his group [Identity Evropa] took the lead to organize white supremacist participation among
people from outside Charlottesville.”

68.  One Internet tool Defendants used extensively to plan and direct illegal acts was
the chat platform Discord. Originally developed as a messaging platform for group “game play,”
Discord is set up as a series of private, invite-only servers, each providing a space for real-time
group discussion. Each server is organized into “channels,” indicated by a “#” before the name.
Participants in the chat use “handles” or nicknames to identify themselves. Participants can
request to be “tagged” as a member of a group.

69. A "Charlottesville 2.0" server was established on Discord in June 2017
(hereinafter, “Discord”). This server was used to direct and plan unlawful acts of violence,
intimidation, and denial of equal protection of law at the Unite the Right "rally.” One user
explained that Discord was “for closed, top super secret communications intended for the elite
inner circle of the alt-right.”* Defendants used Discord as a tool to promote, coordinate, and
organize the Unite the Right “rally,” and as a means to communicate and coordinate violent and
illegal activities “in secret” during the actual events of that weekend.

70. Discord was moderated, reviewed, directed, and managed by Defendants Kessler
and Mosley, along with their co-conspirators. As moderators of the group, they were able to
view all of the posts, invite or reject participants, and delete messages they did not condone. The

group was “invite only” and not open to the public.

4 Another user explained, “unless Jason or Eli made this server public without telling me. . . this isn’t a public
server. It’s invite only through our trusted, pre-vetted alt-right servers. Not sure who told you it’s public."
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71. Individual Defendants, including Heimbach, Parrott, Cantwell, and Ray, were all
participants on Discord, and participated in the direction, planning, and inciting of unlawful and
violent acts through Discord.

72.  These Defendants and their co-conspirators used Discord for regular “leadership”
meetings through which they shared information and plans. Defendants also used Discord to
distribute what they called “Orders” to co-conspirators and attendees. One document posted by
Mosley was entitled “General Orders” for “Operation Unite the Right Charlottesville 2.0.”

73.  There were at least 43 channels set up on Discord as a means of sharing specific

information. Those channels included:

#announcements #news #ma_ct_ri
#dixie-lyrics #safety planning #vt_nh_me
#mod_help #alex_jones_chat #great_lakes_region
#confirmed_participants #pictures_and_video #midwest_region
#shuttle_service_information #beltway_bigots #ky_tn

#code_of conduct #voice_chat #tx_ok
#self_promotion #friday-night #florida
#flags_banners_signs #sunday-night #georgia
#promotion_and_cyberstrike #chants- #carolinas
#gear_and_attire #virginia_laws #california_pacific_nw
#antifa_watch #lodging #carpool_available
#demonstration_tactics #lodging_wanted #ny nj
#sponsors_only #lodging_available #pennsylvania
#i_need_a_sponsor #carpool_wanted #dc_va_md

74.  They also had a channel called #questions_for_coordinators, where participants
could ask questions of the organizers.

75.  With the permission of a moderator, individuals could be “tagged” as members of
certain organizations. Defendants Vanguard America, Identity Evropa, TWP, League of the
South, and Daily Stormer (including its “book club” chapters), all had channels on Discord that
allowed their tagged members to participate in private group communications in advance of the

“rally.”
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76.  Defendants enlisted other co-conspirators to coordinate and organize the “rally,”
through Discord and other means. For example, one individual, using the Discord handle
“Tyrone” (hereinafter Tyrone), agreed with Kessler that he would coordinate transportation for
attendees on August 12. Others were tasked with helping Kessler and Mosley moderate the
Discord server. Another individual, using the Discord handle “Caerulus Rex,” was the
coordinator between various “security details” that were established by Defendants and their co-
conspirators.

77, Promotional materials, often promoting and inciting violence, were added to
Discord in order to be shared and utilized more broadly.

78. Defendants also used Discord to coordinate how they would communicate on
other social media. For example, they told followers to use #UniteTheRight and #Charlottesville
on Twitter, so that they and their followers could closely communicate during the weekend of the
“rally.” They shared that hashtag through Discord.

79. Defendants Anglin and Ray likewise established “meet ups” and chat rooms
through the Daily Stormer’s website that co-conspirators and attendees were told to use
throughout the weekend to coordinate their actions.

80. A *“Charlottesville Statement” was distributed by Defendant Spencer, setting out
the philosophy and ideology underlying the “rally.” He was aided in drafting his manifesto by
Defendant Invictus, co-conspirator McLaren, and others. Among other things, the
Charlottesville Statement holds that “*Judeo-Christian values’ might be a quaint political slogan,
but it is a distortion of the historical and metaphysical reality of both Jews and Europeans” and
that “Nations must secure their existence and uniqueness and promote their own development

and flourishing. . . . Racially or ethnically defined states are legitimate and necessary.”
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C. Defendants Promoted Attendance, Violence, and Imagery Designed to Threaten,
Intimidate and Harass

[T]his will clearly be an earth-shaking day that will go
down in the history books . . . our time has come.

August 12, 2017 is going to be a shot heard around the
world . . . . There will be before Charlottesville 2.0, and there
will be after Charlottesville 2.0. there is no way to exaggerate the
significance of this. We can make all the noise on the internet
that we want, and this is great, but our real power will come only
from numbers in the streets. . . .

[T]hanks to the magnitude of this event, I truly believe—
more than | ever did before—that we will eventually win this
struggle and secure the existence of our people and future for
white children. It is our destiny. Next stop: Charlottesville,
VA. Final stop: Auschwitz. See ya there, faggots.

Daily Stormer

81.  Anglin, through Daily Stormer, told followers: “We are angry . .. There is a [sic]
atavistic rage in us, deep in us, that is ready to boil over. There is a craving to return to an age
of violence. We want a war.” He advised followers that “the hardcore message is what sells”
and told them to “[b]e ready to die for [the fight].”

82. On Spencer’s website, altright.com, one article wrote of the upcoming August
“rally”: “Our ideas dominate the internet . .. Now it’s time to dominate the streets. . .. You
might think it’s just a rally, but really, it’s so much more . ... We are telling the anti-White
establishment and it’s [sic] attack dogs that we are not going to give another inch . . . And now
we have come to the tipping point.”

83. Defendant Ray exhorted: “We are stepping off the Internet in a big way. ... We

have been organizing on the Internet. And so now they are coming out. We have greatly

outnumbered the anti-white, anti-American filth. At some point we will have enough power that
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we will clear them from the streets forever . . . you ain’t seen nothing yet.”® In another
interview, Defendant Ray also stated that Defendants’ goal was to “stop” the “usurpation” of
“our country by a foreign tribe called the Jews.”

84. Defendant Mosley tweeted: “We are [] going to Charlottesville. This is our
country and it is our right that m